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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT KATHERINE D. ARMSTRONG 

 

I, Katherine D. Armstrong, do hereby declare:  

Training and Experience 

1. I am a Special Agent (SA) of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and 

have been so employed for approximately two (2) years.  I am currently assigned to 

the FBI’s Portland Division and am part of the violent and organized crime squad.  

In 2014, I successfully completed twenty-one (21) weeks of training at the FBI 

Academy located in Quantico, Virginia.  During that time, I was taught the use and 

practical application of various investigative techniques that Federal law 

enforcement officers are allowed to employ.   

2. In addition to my formalized training in violations of the law at the FBI 

Academy, I have also acquired knowledge and information pertaining to violations 

of federal law from numerous other sources, including: formal and informal training 

by other law enforcement officers and investigators, informants, and my 

participation in other investigations.  Prior to joining the FBI, I was a prosecutor 

with the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office for approximately two-and-a-half 

years and briefly worked in the private sector as a civil litigator.  I attended law 

school at Temple University in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and have been admitted 

to practice law since October 2010. 

Purpose of Declaration and Background of the Investigation  

3. This declaration is made in support of the Complaint in rem for the forfeiture 
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of 14 firearms and assorted ammunition described below.  The facts set forth in this 

declaration are based on the following: my own personal knowledge; knowledge 

obtained from other individuals during my participation in this investigation, 

including other law enforcement officers; my review of records related to this 

investigation; communications with others who have knowledge of the events and 

circumstances described herein; and information gained through my training and 

experience.  Because this declaration is submitted for the limited purpose of 

establishing probable cause in support of the forfeiture of the defendants in rem, it 

does not set forth each and every fact that I or others have learned during the 

course of this investigation. 

4. Federal law provides that it is unlawful under 18 U.S.C. § 372 to conspire to 

impede officers of the United States from discharging their duties by force, 

intimidation, or threat.  Under 18 U.S.C. § 924(d), any firearm or ammunition 

involved in or used in any violation of any criminal law of the United States is 

subject to seizure and forfeiture.  As described below, each of the defendants, in 

rem, was involved in or used in a conspiracy to impede officers of the United States, 

in knowing and willful violation of 18 U.S.C. § 372, and is therefore forfeitable to 

the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(d).  

5. On January 2, 2016, several hundred unidentified individuals participated in 

a protest in Burns, Oregon, related to the resentencing of local ranchers Steven and 

Dwight Hammond following their criminal convictions by a jury. Following the 

protest, certain indicted conspirators, entered the Malheur National Wildlife Refuge 
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(MNWR), blocked the entrance, and began an unlawful armed occupation of several 

buildings within the MNWR.  The MNWR and all buildings located thereon are 

federal property and facilities located in Harney County in the District of Oregon.  

The armed occupation of the MNWR was continuous and ongoing from January 2, 

2016, until the occupation ended in the morning hours of February 11, 2016.   

6. At the time of the takeover of MNWR, those involved in the initial entry and 

occupation (occupiers) carried out the initial clearing of buildings on MNWR while 

most were armed with rifles. The individuals cleared the buildings in a tactical 

manner while armed. Occupiers also moved MNWR vehicles into positions that 

blocked entrances to the MNWR. Occupiers moved heavy equipment in front of at 

least one entrance to the MNWR as well.   

7. The MNWR is staffed by employees of the United States Fish and Wildlife 

Services.  As a result of the armed occupation of the MNWR by the known 

conspirators and others, employees of the USFWS who work at the MNWR were 

prevented from reporting to work during the occupation because of threats of 

violence posed by the defendants and others occupying the property.  Sixteen (16) 

federal employees work at the MNWR, including one federal law enforcement officer 

and a volunteer coordinator who lived on the Refuge before the armed takeover and 

works in the visitor center. The MNWR was closed on January 2, 2016, and portions 

of the facility that occupiers used remain closed to the public as of the date of this 

affidavit. Employees were allowed to return to work at the MNWR on or about 

February 29, 2016. 
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8. Due to the presence of armed individuals occupying MNWR, and also upon 

learning that some of the occupiers’ supporters were still in the Burns area, the 

Bureau of Land Management (BLM) made the decision to close the Burns District 

Office, located at 28910 Highway 20 West, Hines, Oregon, 97738. The BLM office 

was closed during the entire time the MNWR was unlawfully occupied.  This action 

was taken out of concern for the safety of the approximately 80 employees who work 

there.  

9. Throughout the armed occupation, many occupiers were photographed by 

local, state, and national news media outlets carrying guns on their person. 

Occupiers were photographed carrying both long guns and pistols in clearly visible 

holsters. The carrying of these weapons was intended as a show of force and 

intimidation.  

10. Individuals who participated in the armed occupation of MNWR made 

statements concerning the possession of firearms --- including the need for 

additional firearms to be brought by additional supporters to MNWR --- so that the 

demands they made would be taken seriously, so they could defend themselves if 

law enforcement officers engaged with them, and because they were conducting 

security patrols of MNWR. Additionally, several armed occupiers stated they would 

not leave without their demands being met, and were willing to die at MNWR. For 

example, Ritzheimer stated on several social media websites that he would not be 

arrested and, “I want to die a free man.”  Ritzheimer made further video-taped 

statements such as s such as “I am one hundred percent willing to lay my life down 
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to fight against tyranny in this country,” and while addressing his family, said that 

no matter what, “just know that I stood for something, don’t let it be in vain.” 

Occupiers Blaine Cooper and Jon Ritzheimer posted a video to YouTube on January 

4, 2016. In the video, Ritzheimer stated, “we need you to get here and stand with us. 

More than anything. … Whether you are armed or unarmed, you get up here.”  

11. In public meetings preceding the takeover, both Ryan Payne and Ammon 

Bundy, characterized by other occupiers as leaders in the armed occupation, stated 

that the intent of their effort was to remove the federal government from Harney 

County and to prevent the Hammonds from spending one more night in jail. During 

the first few days of the armed occupation, indicted co-conspirator Pete Santilli used 

his YouTube Channel to provide live-stream coverage of the events in Burns, 

Oregon. During one of these live-stream sessions late at night on January 5, 2016, 

Joseph O’Shaughnessy was interviewed and stated, “I’m right now in the process of 

trying to set up a constitutional security protection force to make sure that these 

federal agents and these law enforcement don’t just come in here like cowboys, 

that’s we have to prevent that…” 

12. During an interview on a national news morning show, which was filmed 

during the occupation, Ammon Bundy stated the occupiers were armed because “We 

are serious about being here.  We’re serious about defending our rights, and we are 

serious about getting some things straightened out.” When asked if he anticipated 

the occupation would lead to violence, Bundy responded, “Only if the government 

wants to take it there.”  
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13. On January 5, 2016, in a video taken by indicted co-conspirator Pete Santilli 

and posted to YouTube, Jon Ritzheimer stated, “last word we got is they’re headed 

out here,” in reference to the belief the armed occupiers held, that were going to be 

raided by the federal government. Ritzheimer goes on to state, “they’re headed out 

here, uh, so we are trying to plan and maintain a defensive posture.” In the video, 

Ritzheimer can be seen carrying what appears to be, based on my training, 

experience, and knowledge of firearms, an AR-15 style rifle with a sling. 

14. The armed occupiers would often hold press briefings on MNWR grounds. 

During a press briefing videotaped on January 3, 2016, Ammon Bundy stated, “We 

are calling people to come out here and stand,” and “We need you to bring your 

arms and we need you to come to the Malheur National Wildlife Refuge.” At one 

point during the armed occupation, environmental activists attended to hold 

counter protests. During one of these press briefings and counter protests, an 

environmental activist was accused by indicted co-conspirator Pete Santilli of being 

an undercover FBI agent. I reviewed an interview of the activist accused of being an 

undercover agent, and learned that when the accusation was levied, the crowd 

became ugly, at which point the activist and a friend who also attended left the 

scene as they feared for their safety.  

15. According to numerous reports and interviews I read concerning this matter, 

armed occupiers conducted security patrols and performed guard duty both in a 

watchtower overseeing the MNWR and at front and back entrances to the MNWR. 

Patrol and guard duties typically required occupiers to carry either a sidearm or 
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have access to a long gun. Ryan Payne, along with other unknown unindicted co-

conspirators, provided guidance to other occupiers concerning tactics, and occupiers 

were placed into “teams” to split up guard shift and patrol duties. When not on 

duty, some teams would practice patrol movements. There was firearm training at 

the refuge as well, though not all occupiers participated. 

16. On January 26, 2016, at approximately 4:25 p.m., the FBI and the Oregon 

State Police began an enforcement action to take into federal custody individuals 

involved in the armed occupation of the Malheur National Wildlife Refuge. Shots 

were fired during the arrest, and LaVoy Finicum was killed. Ryan Bundy was 

injured. The following individuals were taken into custody: Ammon Bundy, Ryan 

Payne, Ryan Bundy, Brian Cavalier, and Shawna Cox. During separate events in 

the evening of January 26, 2016, Joseph O’Shaughnessy and Peter Santilli were 

taken into custody as well. Jon Ritzheimer was taken into custody in Arizona on the 

same day.  

17. On January 26, 2016, Ammon Bundy, Ritzheimer, O’Shaughnessy, Payne, 

Ryan Bundy, Cavalier, Cox, and Santilli were charged by Criminal Complaint with 

the felony crime of Conspiracy to Impede Officers of the United States from 

discharging their official duties through the use of force, intimidation, or threats, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 372.   

18. On January 28, 2016, Duane Ehmer, Dylan Anderson, and Jason Patrick 

were charged by Criminal Complaint with the felony crime of Conspiracy to Impede 

Officers of the United States from discharging their official duties through the use 
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of force, intimidation, or threats, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 372.   

19. As described above, the individuals initially charged by criminal complaint 

and later indicted by a grand jury, most of whom were armed, worked together with 

many additional unindicted actors, both known and unknown, to control federal 

property while refusing to leave, intending to impede and prevent by force the 

federal officials who worked on and used that property from performing their official 

duties.  

Seized Firearms and Assorted Ammunition Subject to Forfeiture 

20. On January 26, 2016, several firearms and assorted ammunition were seized 

after the arrests of Ammon Bundy, Ryan Payne, Ryan Bundy, Brian Cavalier, and 

Shawna Cox. Those individuals were traveling together as part of a two-vehicle 

convoy. The vehicles were followed from the time they left the MNWR until the time 

they were stopped. The two vehicles did not make any stops between leaving the 

refuge and the arrests. The following firearms and ammunition were seized from 

the vehicles and the occupants at that time:  

Item Group No. Item Description 
1 One (1) SIG magazine containing fourteen (14) rounds of .40 

caliber S/W ammunition from Ryan Payne 
2 One (1) Ruger semi-automatic pistol, model SR9, 9mm, 

serial number 331-35894 with one magazine and an 
unknown number of live rounds of ammunition, from LaVoy 
Finicum 

3 One (1) Taurus revolver, model 85, Ultra-Lite, 38 Special 
Titanium, silver in color, serial number SF 41178, with five 
rounds of live ammunition, from the floorboard on the 
driver’s side back passenger seat of LaVoy Finicum’s truck 
where Ryan Bundy was previously seated 
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4 One (1) Fabrique Nationale semi-automatic pistol, model 
FNP40, .40 caliber, black in color, serial number 
61CMN05930 with no magazines or rounds, from Ammon 
Bundy 

5 One (1) Smith and Wesson rifle, model M&P-15X, .223 
caliber, black in color, serial number SM 10600 with black 
Leupold scope (serial number 514695T), sling, and one (1) 
magazine with twenty-five (25) live rounds of .223 
ammunition, from under the back seat of Finicum’s vehicle 

6 One (1) Smith and Wesson rifle, model M&P-15, .223 
caliber, serial number SW 47114 with black Raptor scope 
(serial number 1005-01-469-7050), sling, and one (1) 
magazine with twenty-five (25) live rounds of .223 
ammunition, from under the back seat of Finicum’s vehicle 

 

21. On January 26, 2016, Joseph O’Shaughnessy (one of the indicted occupiers) 

was stopped during the course of a traffic stop, in Burns, Oregon by FBI Hostage 

Rescue Team (HRT). O’Shaughnessy was inside a vehicle with three other 

individuals. O’Shaughnessy was arrested and the other individuals were released. 

At the time of his arrest, weapons were seen in the vehicle but not seized.  

22. On January 27, 2016, FBI SWAT Agents Sam Benson and Christopher Kopp 

were members of a checkpoint roadblock on the west side of the MNWR. Agents 

were stopping all traffic coming in and out of the refuge in conjunction with Oregon 

State Police. A Harney County resident, “J.P.” and a female passenger approached 

in a vehicle. They exited the vehicle at direction of SWAT.  J.P and the female 

passenger were searched and questioned. SA Kopp cleared the vehicle to ensure no 

one else was inside. In the back seat of the vehicle, behind the driver’s seat, was a 

load-bearing vest. The vest was full of rifle magazines and pistol magazines.  J.P. 

stated he had found the vest on the middle of the road as he was approaching the 
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checkpoint.  SA Kopp believed J.P.’s explanation and did not believe the vest or 

magazines and ammunition belonged to J.P.  J.P. and the female passenger had 

approached the checkpoint from the direction of the MNWR.  J.P.’s residence was 

located between the checkpoints set up by SWAT on either side of the MNWR.  As 

his family’s residence was located behind the checkpoints, J.P. came through the 

checkpoint numerous times.  SA Kopp and SA Benson seized the vest, magazines, 

and ammunition, which included the following items: 

Item Group No. Item Description 

7 Two pistol magazines containing twenty-three (23) .40 caliber 
live rounds of ammunition 

8 Ten rifle magazines containing two hundred six (206) .223 
caliber live rounds of ammunition. Some of the rifle magazines 
were marked “PAYNE” 

 

23. On January 28, 2016, a red Chevy Tahoe with VIN 1GNEK13RXVJ399864 

was searched while at the Harney County Sheriff’s impound lot in Burns, Oregon, 

following the signed consent of Duane Ehmer (the owner of the vehicle and one of 

the indicted occupiers). The Chevy Tahoe had previously been located on MNWR 

grounds. The Chevy Tahoe was transported from the east checkpoint outside 

MNWR grounds directly to the impound lot. Ehmer was arrested by FBI agents at 

the checkpoint while leaving MNWR on January 27, 2016. Ehmer was driving the 

Chevy Tahoe and pulling a white horse trailer when he was contacted by agents. 

24. During the course of the consent search of the red 1997 Chevy Tahoe 

belonging to Duane Ehmer, the following firearms and ammunition were seized:  
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Item Group No. Item Description 
9 One (1) Aldo Uberti .45 caliber rifle, model 1982, serial 

number T1490 
10 Twelve (12) .45 caliber rounds removed from magazine  
11 One (1) Winchester shotgun shell 
12 Four (4) shotgun rounds consisting of two (2) Winchester 

Western rounds and two (2) Remington Sportsman rounds 
13 One (1) shotgun shell 
14 Ten (10) shotgun shells 
15 One (1) bag containing sixteen (16) pieces of lead shot 

 

25. Also on January 28, 2016, during the course of the consent search of the 

white horse trailer described above belonging to Duane Ehmer, the following 

accessory with ammunition was seized: 

Item Group No. Item Description 
16 Thirty-five (35) rounds of .45 caliber Colt ammunition 

 

26. On January 28, 2016, the FBI’s HRT took custody of abandoned weapons and 

ammunition from a “medical trailer” ostensibly set up by occupiers and others to 

serve as a place to provide medical services in the event of injuries, and physically 

located at the Narrows RV Park, 33468 Sodhouse Lane, Princeton, Oregon. The 

following firearms and ammunition were seized from the medical trailer at that 

time:  

Item Group No. Item Description 
17 One (1) Armscor Charles Daley pistol, .45 caliber, model Pro, 

serial number CD009933 with one magazine containing seven 
(7) live rounds of .45 caliber ammunition 

18 One (1) Taurus Millennium pistol, .45 caliber, model PT 145, 
serial number NAW66196, with magazine containing twelve 
(12) live rounds of .45 caliber ammunition 
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19 One (1) Remington Express Magnum shotgun, 12 gauge, model 
870, serial number AB314238M, with elastic strap and eight 
(8) live rounds of 12-gauge shotgun shells 

20 One (1) LWRC rifle, .556mm, model M6A2, serial number 01-
01369, with EOTech scope, TLR-1Stream Light (serial number 
C4-206188), bipod, strap, and magazine containing forty-two 
(42) live rounds of .223 caliber ammunition 

21 One (1) Taurus Rossi lever action rifle, .38/.357 caliber, model 
92, serial number SK124443 

22 One (1) Rock River rifle, .556mm, model LAR15, serial number 
CM262534, with strap and magazine containing thirty (30) 
live rounds of .223 caliber ammunition 

23 One (1) Beretta rifle, 9mm, model CX4 Storm, serial number 
CX16200, with strap, tactical grip and magazine containing 
twenty-six (26) live rounds of 9mm ammunition 

24 Three (3) boxes of live 12-gauge shotgun shells, each box 
containing five (5) shells per box for a total of fifteen (15) shells 

25 One magazine containing ten (10) live rounds of .45 caliber 
ammunition 

26 One magazine containing ten (10) live rounds of .45 caliber 
ammunition 

27 One magazine containing ten (10) live rounds of .45 caliber 
ammunition 

28 One (1) magazine containing twenty-eight (28) live rounds of 
.223 caliber ammunition 

29 Four (4) 12-gauge shotgun shells 
30 One (1) envelope containing eight (8) live loose .357 caliber 

rounds of ammunition 
 

27. I learned during the investigation that an individual named Jake Ryan was 

interviewed by FBI Special Agent Steven Liss. Based upon a report of the interview 

between SA Liss and Ryan, I learned Ryan traveled from Montana to MNWR while 

the occupation was ongoing and had brought with him the following items: 

a. One (1) .45 caliber Millennium Pro Compact semi-automatic pistol, with a 13-
14 round magazine capacity;  

b. One (1) Remington 870 tactical shotgun; 
c. One (1) .45 caliber Charles Daily, 1911-style semi-automatic pistol; 
d. One (1) .45 caliber sub-compact pistol, no further details concerning make or 

model provided. 
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28.  Ryan told investigating agents that when he left MNWR, he left with the 

aforementioned weapons, along with three additional weapons that had been left 

behind at the MNWR by unidentified individuals. Ryan recalled those firearms as 

follows:  

e. .223 Rock River assault rifle with iron sights; 
f. .223 tactical assault rifle with iron sights, make and model unknown; 
g. .45 Long Colt semi-automatic, further described as a rare model. 

 
29. The firearms described by Ryan, appear to be consistent with some of the 

firearms recovered from the medical trailer, and elsewhere, and mentioned 

previously in this complaint. Additional firearms recovered from the refuge also are 

consistent with some of the guns he described.   

30. Ryan also stated he recovered one load-bearing tactical vest that was not 

Kevlar body armor. Ryan stated that after he left MNWR, he traveled to the 

Narrows Campground and placed the weapons inside an RV-type vehicle for safe-

keeping with an unidentified friend. The RV trailer was part of the militia medical 

team unit. Ryan later learned from a female friend that law enforcement officers 

entered the Narrows RV Park and seized these weapons out of the RV trailer. Ryan 

stated he had traveled to MNWR to support the cause of the occupiers. When asked 

why the occupiers needed to be armed, build defensive positions, as well as conduct 

security patrols, Ryan told investigators that the actions were necessary to “defend 

themselves.”  

31. The information from Ryan further demonstrates that all the guns and 

ammunition seized, whether from the MNWR or other locations described herein, 
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were used in the occupation of the MNWR, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 372. 

32. I reviewed a report written by FBI HRT Unit Chief (UC) Timothy Swanson 

concerning the collection of weapons from the Narrows RV Park on January 28, 

2016. In the report, UC Swanson located and spoke to a female who identified 

herself as the owner of the Narrows RV Park. UC Swanson learned from the owner 

that the medical trailer was occupied by Barbara Berg.   

33. UC Swanson then interviewed Berg. Based upon my review of this interview 

report, I learned Berg was staying in the medical trailer and did not own the trailer 

but she had been allowed to live in it. Berg was assisting in negotiating with people 

on the refuge when they were trying to leave. Berg was the only individual living in 

the trailer. Berg gave consent to UC Swanson to search the trailer. She advised UC 

Swanson that there were a number of guns inside the trailer. She did not know who 

the guns belonged to but allowed the HRT team to take them out of the trailer. Berg 

did not know how long the guns had been in the trailer and believed they had been 

placed there when people were actively leaving MNWR or turning themselves in to 

the FBI beginning on or around January 26, 2016.  

34. I learned during the investigation that on February 3, 2016, members of HRT 

cleared a building identified as Building 15 located on MNWR. During the course of 

clearing the building, the following ammunition was seized: 

Item Group No. Item Description 
31 Two (2) 7.62 bullet casings 
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35. I learned during the investigation that on February 3, 2016, members of HRT 

cleared a building identified as Building 20 located on MNWR. During the course of 

clearing the building, the following firearms was seized:  

Item Group No. Item Description 
32 One (1) full metal jacket Cobray single shot derringer, model 

D, .45/410 caliber, serial number 19318 
 

Conclusion 

36.  It is evident from the statements and actions of the armed occupiers that the 

open carry, display, and talk of weapons and need to use force if confronted by 

federal agents, was done for the purpose of threatening and intimidating federal 

officials from discharging their duties. These actions were ongoing and continuous 

from the beginning of the armed occupation on January 2, 2016 until the last 

individual left MNWR on February 11, 2016.  

37. Given the seizure locations of all the firearms and ammunition discussed in 

this declaration, the repeated observed use of firearms by occupiers described above, 

the public solicitation by occupiers for additional supporters to come to MNWR and 

bring firearms with them, and the fact that none of the seized firearms and 

ammunition are believed to belong to MNWR employees, it is my belief that all of 

the firearms and ammunition described in this declaration had been brought to or 

near MNWR grounds by the indicted and unindicted occupiers immediately prior to 

seizure for the purpose of impeding, intimidating, and threatening federal officers 

from discharging their duties.   
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38. Based on my experience as a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation and the circumstances described in this declaration, I have reason to 

believe that the defendants, in rem, described in this declaration are subject to 

seizure and forfeiture. There is probable cause to believe that each of the 14 

firearms and the assorted ammunition I have described were involved in or used in 

a conspiracy to impede officers of the United States in knowing and willful violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 372, and are therefore forfeitable to the United States pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 924(d).  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746. 

Executed on this 25th day of May 2016. 

     s/ Katherine D. Armstrong 
     KATHERINE D. ARMSTRONG 
     Special Agent 
     Federal Bureau of Investigation 
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